THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

SC Court of Appeals Case No. 2018-001788

Toyota of Greer, Appellant

v.

South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles, Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Bradford N. Martin, Esq. (SC Bar No. 3658)
Laura W. H. Teer, Esq. (SC Bar No. 16698)
Bradford Neal Martin & Associates, PA
Post Office Box 10410
Greenville, South Carolina 29603
864.552.9990

Attorneys for Appellant Toyota of Greer

RECEIVED
JUN 20 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT (ALC) MISINTERPRET *JOSEPH V. S.C. DEP'T OF LABOR*¹ IN FINDING THAT THE DMV WAS NOT REQUIRED TO FOLLOW DE-002, THUS CREATING THE POTENTIAL DANGER POSED BY THE LEVIATHAN OF THE AGENCY ACTING AS THE FOURTH BRANCH OF GOVERNMENT?
- II. DID THE ALC ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE OMVH HEARING OFFICER WHEN THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLE'S (DMV) OWN MANDATORY PROCEDURES REQUIRED THAT THE LICENSE SUSPENSION BE RESCINDED THUS DENYING APPELLANT DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION?
- III. DID THE ALC ERR IN HOLDING THE ONLY LIMITATIONS ON THE DMV'S DISCRETION REGARDING SANCTIONS ARE CONTAINED IN S.C. CODE ANN. § 56-15-350 WHEN THE DMV ESTABLISHED THE MANDATORY PROCEDURE OF DE-002 AS A BINDING NORM AND REQUIRED THAT IT BE FOLLOWED AND PUBLISHED TO ALL SOUTH CAROLINA DEALERS IN THE DEALER AND WHOLESALER MANUAL?
- IV. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THAT THE DMV WAS NOT REQUIRED TO FOLLOW DE-002 BECAUSE IT WAS NOT PROMULGATED AS A REGULATION?
- V. DID THE ALC ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE DMV ACTED ARBITRARILY WHEN IT DISREGARDED DE-002 WITHOUT ADEQUATE EXPLANATION OR NOTICE?
- VI. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT HAD NOT CITED ANY LEGAL AUTHORITY THAT THE DMV COULD NOT ARBITRARILY DEVIATE FROM ITS ESTABLISHED PROCEDURE?
- VII. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THE HEARING OFFICER DID NOT RULE THAT DE-002 WAS NOT MANDATORY?
- VIII. DID THE ALC ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE HEARING OFFICER WHEN HE IMPROPERLY FOUND DE-002 "CONTAINS NO PROVISION THAT ASSERTS THE DEPARTMENT IS LIMITED TO ANY PARTICULAR CATEGORY" WHEN THE DMV'S SANCTION REPORTS FOUND THE ONLY VIOLATION TO BE IN THE 4 POINT CATEGORY FOR FAILING TO DELIVER TITLE?
- IX. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING IT WAS ONLY A CLERICAL ERROR WHEN THE HEARING OFFICER FOUND THAT THE VIOLATION OF "ENGAGING IN ANY ACTION WHICH CAUSES DAMAGE TO ANY PARTY OR TO THE PUBLIC" CARRIED A CHARGE OF "UP TO 6 POINTS" WHEN THE HEARING OFFICER'S DECISION CLEARLY SHOWED THAT HE IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED THE CHARGE OF FAILURE TO DELIVER TITLE WITHIN 45 DAYS AS A SUBSET OF THE SEPARATE CHARGE OF "ENGAGING IN ANY ACTION WHICH CAUSES DAMAGE TO ANY PARTY OR TO THE PUBLIC" EVEN THOUGH DMV FORM DE-002B LISTS THE

¹ 417 S.C. 436, 455-56, 790 S.E.2d 763, 773 (2016).

VIOLATIONS SEPARATELY AND ASSIGNS DIFFERENT POINTS FOR EACH VIOLATION?

- X. DID THE ALC ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE HEARING OFFICER WHEN HE FOUND THE DMV ADMITTED THAT THE ASSESSMENT OF 4-POINT VIOLATIONS REQUIRED A FINDING OF A "WILLFUL FAILURE TO DELIVER TITLE" AND THE DEFINITION OF "WILLFUL" AS CONTAINED IN DE-002 WAS NOT MET?**
- XI. DID THE ALC ERR IN HOLDING THERE IS NO AUTHORITY FOR A DEALER TO EXCEED 45 DAYS TO DELIVER TITLE WHEN DE-002 STATES THAT THERE IS NO VIOLATION UNLESS THE FAILURE WAS "WILLFUL"?**
- XII. DID THE ALC ERR IN HOLDING THERE IS NO AUTHORITY FOR A DEALER TO EXCEED 45 DAYS TO DELIVER TITLE WHEN A THIRD PARTY FAILS TO DELIVER TITLE?**
- XIII. DID THE ALC ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THE DMV EXCEEDED ITS STATUTORY AUTHORITY WHEN IT ISSUED A SUSPENSION WITHOUT A FINDING OF WILFULLNESS?**
- XIV. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THE SCDMV ISSUED ITS SUSPENSION BASED ON DE-002, SECTION III.G.4 WHEN THE SCDMV ADMITTED IT DID NOT FOLLOW THE PROCEDURE?**
- XV. DID THE ALC ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE HEARING OFFICER WHEN HE FOUND THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE OF A SANCTION REPORT RELATED TO MCCALLISTER'S COMPLAINT AS REQUIRED BY SECTION III.C.3. OF DE-002?**
- XVI. DID THE ALC ERR IN INCORRECTLY FINDING THAT LEAKS' MANAGER REVIEWED ALL SANCTIONS WHEN THERE IS NO EVIDENCE SHE CONSULTED HIM ON THE VIOLATIONS IN QUESTION?**
- XVII. DID THE ALC ERR IN OVERLOOKING APPELLANT'S REASONABLE BASIS FOR ITS ACTIONS AND FINDING THAT THE DMV MET ITS BURDEN TO SHOW APPELLANT VIOLATED S.C. CODE § 56-15-40(1) WHEN THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANT ENGAGED IN AN ACTION "WHICH IS ARBITRARY, IN BAD FAITH, OR UNCONSCIONABLE" AND CAUSED DAMAGE TO THE PUBLIC BUT RATHER THAT THE ACTS OF OTHERS CAUSED THE DELAY IN DELIVERING THE TITLE?**
- XVIII. DID THE ALC ERR IN APPLYING THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT TO DISREGARD THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE DEALERS ACT?**
- XIX. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE HEARING OFFICER'S FINDINGS THAT THE COMPLAINANTS AND PUBLIC WERE HARMED BY APPELLANT'S ACTIONS?**
- XX. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THE APPELLANT FAILED TO PERFORM "ITS MOST FUNDAMENTAL DUTY OWED TO ITS CUSTOMERS" WHEN THE FAILURES IN ALL INSTANCES WERE DUE TO "A PRIOR SELLER OR LIENHOLDER WHO HAS FAILED TO DELIVER TITLE AS REQUIRED**

- BY LAW”?
- XXI. DID THE ALC ERR BY IMPROPERLY FINDING THAT APPELLANT PROVIDED FALSE OR MISLEADING BILLS OF SALE OR AFFIDAVITS & NOTIFICATIONS OF SALE?
- XXII. DID THE ALC ERR BY IMPROPERLY FINDING APPELLANT TOOK NO CORRECTIVE ACTION UNTIL CUSTOMERS FILED COMPLAINTS WITH THE DMV?
- XXIII. DID THE ALC ERR IN HOLDING THE APPELLANT DID NOT KNOW WHETHER THERE WAS A LIEN ON THE MCCALLISTER CAR WHEN THE SELLER HAD REPORTED THERE WAS NO LIEN, WHICH WAS CONFIRMED BY THE PRIOR LENDER?
- XXIV. DID THE ALC ERR IN HOLDING THAT APPELLANT SOLD THE GILLIAM CAR “WITH KNOWLEDGE OF A LIEN” WHEN IN FACT THE SELLER AND FORD MOTOR CREDIT SAID THERE WAS NO LIEN?
- XXV. DID THE ALC ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THE HEARING OFFICER IMPROPERLY ADMITTED HEARSAY EVIDENCE IN THE FORM OF NOTES MADE BY AGENT BENJAMIN IN THE DEALER COMMENTS SECTION OF THE DOCUMENT ENTITLED “INVESTIGATION OF COMPLAINT REGARDING DEALER/WHOLESALER?”
- XXVI. DID THE ALC ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE HEARING OFFICER WHEN THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF A SEPARATE REVIEW AND APPROVAL AS REQUIRED BY SECTION III D. OR A REVIEW OF THE SUSPENSION BY THE AUDIT UNIT MANAGER AS REQUIRED BY SECTION III G.7?
- XXVII. DID THE ALC ERR IN FAILING TO CONSIDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE SALE TO QUALITY AUTO?
- XXVIII. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD THAT APPELLANT OFFERED CUSTOMERS AN OPPORTUNITY TO RETURN THE CARS?
- XXIX. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING IT WAS WITHIN THE HEARING OFFICER’S DISCRETION TO CONSIDER THE LENGTH OF TIME IT TOOK APPELLANT TO PROVIDE THE TITLES WHEN THAT WAS NOT INCLUDED IN THE DEFINITION OF “WILLFUL”?
- XXX. DID THE ALC ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HEARING OFFICER’S MISSTATEMENTS REGARDING APPELLANT’S TESTIMONY AS TO QUALITY AUTO?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) issued an Official Notice of Dealer License Suspension against Appellant on June 27, 2017. The Notice prohibited Appellant from selling cars for a full week. The reason given was that Appellant accumulated 12 points under DMV policy DE-002², on three occasions over three years having “Engaged in any action which causes damage to any party or to the public (failure to deliver title within 45 days of date of sale).” DE-002 defined a willful failure to deliver title as:

...refers to the failure of a dealer to execute an assignment of title to the buyer and deliver the title to the buyer or the department within 45 days of the date of sale **when the prior seller or lienholder has delivered the title as required by law.** (emphasis added). (R. 505, Pet. Ex. 5).

DE-002 further provides:

The “failure to deliver title violation” is not considered willful if the dealer can provide a written statement, which is substantiated by a Dealer Licensing Audit Unit agent identifying a prior seller or lien holder who has failed to deliver the title as required by law. . . (R. 507, Pet. Ex. 5).

Appellant denied that it committed a willful failure to deliver title or willfully engaged in any action which caused damage to any party or to the public. Appellant alleged it provided written statements for all three sales that were substantiated by a DMV agent that the prior owner or lien holder did not deliver the title to Appellant, as required by law.

Appellant filed a Request for Contested Case Hearing on July 6, 2017. (R. 33). On October 2, 2017 a hearing was held before a Hearing Officer of the Office of Motor Vehicle Hearings. An Order was issued on December 12, 2017, which sustained the License Suspension of June 27, 2017. (R. 1). Appellant timely filed its Notice of Appeal with the Administrative Law Court

² The DMV puts all South Carolina Dealers on notice of their point sanctions in their Dealer and Wholesaler Manual.

(ALC) on January 11, 2018. (R. 39). The ALC affirmed, and issued her Order without oral argument on July 31, 2018. (R. 16). Appellant timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration/Rehearing on August 10, 2018. (R. 125). Appellant's Motion was denied on September 4, 2018. (R. 28). Appellant received a copy of this decision on September 4, 2018. Appellant timely filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court on October 1, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An Appellate Court may reverse the decision of the ALC if it is affected by an error of law or is "arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion." *South Carolina Dep't of Motor Vehicles v. Blackwell*, 389 S.C. 293, 295, 698 S.E.2d 770, 771 (2010). This Court is empowered to reverse the decision of the ALC if substantial rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are (1) violative of constitutional or statutory provisions; (2) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; (3) made upon unlawful procedure; (4) affected by other error of law; (5) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5).

Basic administrative law principles establish that an agency bears the burden of proof in an enforcement action. Since the DMV asserts the affirmative of an issue, i.e. the enforcement of a dealer's license suspension, and since the dealer will be subject to an adverse ruling if no evidence is introduced, the DMV bears the burden of proof in this matter. See *Carter v. Columbia and Greenville R.R. Co.*, 19 S.C. 20, 28-29 (1883); A. Sanders & J. Nichols, *Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers* § 9:3, at 390 (4th ed. 2008).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant has been in business since 2004 employing over 86 South Carolinians. (R. 353, ll. 18-20). Their title department processed over 25,000 vehicle titles in the relevant time period. (R. 348, l. 20). Appellant hired staff and implemented a process to efficiently handle the paperwork necessary to obtain titles for vehicles traded in or purchased by the dealership and forwarded to the next buyer. (R. 353, l. 25 – R. 357, l. 3). However, the actions of previous owners and lenders can interfere with Appellant's ability to timely obtain a title. (R. 357, l. 4; R. 359, l. 16). This suspension will cost Appellant an estimated \$2.1 million in sales. (R. 353, ll. 10-15).

The DMV has implemented a uniform and fair system in which points are charged for violations and has developed a required procedure for the application and administration of any sanctions against dealers. (R. 502-516, Pet. Ex. 5). This uniform and fair system, derived from statutory law, was designed to insure that any of the several hundred dealerships in South Carolina were treated fairly and equally. This Appeal is asking that the uniform and fair system be applied to Appellant, to insure equal protection and due process.

The DMV has developed a Dealer and Wholesaler Manual "to provide new and existing dealers with up-to-date information."³ It "... lists requirements mandated by state and federal law, and DMV's policy." (R. 409).

The Manual contains a sub-section entitled "Dealer Sanctions" which sets forth the point system that could lead to suspension. (available online). It lists a sanction of "6 points to Revocation" for "Engaging in any action which causes damage to any party." (available online).

³ Since August 1, 2009, the Manual showed the 4-point category as "willful failure to deliver title" and "6 points to revocation for engaging in any action which causes damage to any party." (posted online at <http://www.scdmvonline.com/Forms/Dealer-Manual.ashx>, page 5-4) Respondent failed to introduce the updated Manual, but instead submitted the 2007 Manual (R. 408), which pre-dates DE-002 (R. 502) and does not include the "willful" language.

It lists a sanction of only 4 points for “Willful failure to deliver title to buyer or department within 45 days of sale.” (available online, see also DE-002, R. 515). Thus, all South Carolina dealers are on notice of how the sanction points apply to them.

These points are based on DMV Procedure DE-002, which is the official procedure regarding the issuance of dealer sanctions. (R. 502, Pet. Ex. 5). The first page of DE-002 states that DMV employees are required to read and follow these procedures. (R. 502, Pet. Ex. 5).

Section III D.2. states that points are assessed utilizing DMV Form DE-002B. (R. 507, Pet. Ex. 5). Section III D.4 requires the Dealer License and Audit Unit (DLAU) to adhere to the written process to insure uniform and fair assessment of sanctions. (R. 507, Pet. Ex. 5). Table DE-002B lists violations for “Engaging in any action which causes damage to any party or to the public” as requiring a sanction of 6 points to revocation, and “Willful failure to deliver title to buyer or department within 45 days of date of sale” as requiring a sanction of 4 points. (R. 515, Pet. Ex. 5). The Table does not provide for a lesser point sanction. This Table mirrors the Table published to all South Carolina Dealers in the Dealer Manual.

Section III C.3 requires that a Sanction Report be completed if the administrative investigation reveals violations. (R. 507, Pet. Ex. 5). The DMV presented only two Sanction Reports⁴ which list the violation as “Failure to deliver title within 45 days of date of sale.” (R. 517; R. 535, Pet. Exs. 6 and 8). Four points were assessed as the sanction on both reports.

Zenda Leaks, Assistant Manager of the DLAU, agreed in her testimony that DMV policy states:

The “failure to deliver title violation” is not considered willful if the dealer can provide a written statement, which is substantiated by a Dealer Licensing and Audit Unit agent identifying a prior seller or lien holder who has failed to deliver the title as required by law. (R. 239, l. 24 – 240, l. 7; R. 507, Pet. Ex. 5).

⁴ There were three claimed violations, but only two Sanction Reports.

The rationale behind this exception is that a dealer cannot be penalized if a previous owner or lienholder violates the law.⁵ S.C. Code §56-19-360 requires that the previous owner:

“[s]hall, at the time of the delivery of the vehicle, execute an assignment and warranty of title to transferee [the dealership]”

In all three instances, the previous owner failed to deliver the title “as required by law.”

Despite the Assistant Manager’s agreement that willfulness did not exist, the DMV employees ignored the policy and sanctioned Appellant on the three following transactions. This Appeal requests that this uniform and fair system be applied to Appellant, ensuring due process and equal protection, so the sanction that will deprive prospective customers the right to purchase cars and employees to be paid may be reversed.

Sheila Gilliam Purchase

The Derricks traded in a 2007 Ford Explorer on January 25, 2016 and certified there was no lien on the vehicle. (R. 380, Res. Ex. 3). They failed to deliver the title as required by law.

Therefore, Appellant took it upon itself to solve the problem. Appellant’s Title Clerk ran an inquiry through the DMV’s electronic registration system on February 4, 2016, which showed a lien from Ford Motor Credit (FMC) had not been satisfied.⁶ (R. 307, l. 25- R. 308, l. 20; R. 382, Res. Ex. 4). The Clerk contacted FMC who confirmed that the loan had been paid several years earlier, but it neglected to file the lien release. (R. 309, ll. 6-16). Because the account was closed years earlier, FMC had difficulty locating the file and providing the lien release and the Clerk had

⁵ A license is a valuable property right. *See e.g., Davis v. S.C. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles*, 420 S.C. 98, 800 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2017). The DMV Procedure recognizes the unfairness of denying dealers their valuable property rights due to actions of others, which is why points are not assessed if the fault lies with a previous owner or lender.

⁶ South Carolina law provides that the lienholder holds the title when a car is financed, S.C. Code §56-19-265(A), and requires the DMV to mail the Certificate of Title to the fist lienholder named in it. S.C. Code §56-19-340.

to call multiple times until she was finally able to speak with an employee who was able to provide the release. (R. 311, l. 3 – R. 312, l. 20). Thus, the delay fell at the feet of the lienholder, FMC.

Appellant sold the Ford Explorer to Sheila Gilliam on March 29, 2016, (R. 553-554, Pet. Ex. 9) expecting FMC (contacted on February 4th) to release the paid off lien within the 45 days. Appellant knew there was no lien on the car, since both the previous owner and lienholder confirmed it was paid off years before the resale. Appellant was able to receive a lien release letter from FMC dated June 28, 2016. (R. 383, Res. Ex. 5). The Clerk then expedited the process to complete the title work on the Explorer as shown by the selection of the expedited process at the top of the Form 400. (R. 384, Res. Ex. 6). Appellant received the duplicate title and completed the tag work on July 6, 2016. (R. 561, Pet. Ex. 10).

The DMV received a complaint from Gilliam on the same date FMC finally issued its lien release letter. DMV Field Agent Benjamin investigated and received a written statement from Appellant explaining that the lienholder FMC was the cause that the title was not issued within 45 days.⁷ (R. 541, Pet. Ex. 8). He also admitted that he accepted Appellant's written statement as "substantiated" as required by DE-002. (R. 295, l. 22 – R. 296, l. 16).

DMV Agent Benjamin further testified that he considered any failure to deliver the title within 45 days as "willful," but later admitted that this was not consistent with DE-002 as to the definition of "willful." (R. 285, l. 25 – R. 288, l. 11). Therefore, the 4 points were wrongfully charged against Appellant. If this one transaction fell off, Appellant never would have received 12 points, and would not be facing suspension.

⁷ Appellant inquired of the DMV as to whether there was a rule in South Carolina that a title had to be in hand before resale, and was told there was not. (R. 364, l. 18 – R. 365, l. 25).

Quality Auto of Anderson Purchase

Hughes traded in a 2000 Chrysler 300 on February 13, 2016 (R. 528-529) and reported a lien with Carolina Title Loans. (R. 524). Thus, the title was held by the lender. She agreed it should be paid off as part of her deal. Appellant's Clerk called the Spartanburg branch listed on the payoff sheet and was told that the title was being held at the Greer branch. (R. 315, l. 21 – R. 316, l. 7). She contacted the Greer branch and received the payoff amount. (R. 316, ll. 8-12; R. 386, Res. Ex. 7). The Clerk sent the check to the lender at the Greer branch on February 25, 2016, which was cashed on March 8th, well within the 45-day window. (R. 316, ll. 12-17; R. 387, Res. Ex. 8). Thus, there was nothing prohibiting the lender from forwarding the title to Appellant within the 45 days.

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