THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001788

RECEIVED

JUN 20 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Toyota of Greer Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES

FRANK L. VALENTA, JR., SC Bar # 5682
General Counsel
PHILIP S. PORTER, SC Bar #4526
Deputy General Counsel
BRANDY A. DUNCAN, SC Bar # 72052
Assistant General Counsel
South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles
10311 Wilson Boulevard
Post Office Box 1498
Blythewood, South Carolina 29016-0020

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

It should be pointed out here that as much as Appellant seeks to force the Department to a standard of “willful failure” and simultaneously claim that the Department cannot meet the standard, “willful failure to deliver title” is a defined term in DE-002. The

definition makes absolutely clear that it did not remotely apply to the complaints in this case. It applies only when the prior seller *delivers* the title within forty-five days of the sale and the dealer nevertheless fails or refuses to deliver, such as when a dealer sells out of trust having received title and payment but willfully fails to title or cannot because the dealer provided title is held by an unpaid floor planner even though the dealer has been paid to arrange the release of lien. Appellant insists that it should escape any sanction *precisely because* prior sellers or lienholders *did not* provide titles or releases of record, a situation totally different from the defined term “willful failure” on which it relies (Petitioner’s Ex. 5, at 4 and 6, R. pp. 505, 507). Appellant further, however, wishes to use the inapplicable violation definition as a Monopoly game get out of jail free card, regardless of other circumstances of the sale and regardless of what happened afterward.

In fact, Appellant is in the car selling business. Providing title, so the vehicle may be legally registered and driven or sold, is its most fundamental duty. Respondent signed documentation that there was no undisclosed liens or allowed third parties in on its behalf in an auction or otherwise to do so in its name to support the sales in a chain of title. Having made these representations, its customers could not get titles until well past the statutory limit, at least twice the statutory limit, precisely because Respondent did not produce a release of lien. Moreover, Appellant was unwilling to devote sufficient resources to acquire the releases or offer alternatives. In one case, the McCallister complaint, the Appellant bought the vehicle on January 7, 2017, and sold it Ms. McCallister on February 10, 2017, still not only not having the title, but also not knowing what State the vehicle was titled in and not knowing that the person purportedly selling to Appellant was not even the owner, as well as apparently not having required identification from that person despite

having a policy requiring identification. Petitioner's Ex. 11, R. p. 568; R. pp. 342 l. 11-345, l. 18; Respondent Ex. 9, R. p. 388. Ms. McCallister's creditor's lien went unperfected until the vehicle was titled on May 15, 2017.

In the Gilliam complaint, Appellant bought the Explorer from the prior owner on January 25, 2016. Respondent's Ex. 3, R. p. 380. It knew that there was a still recorded lien and the lienholder was Ford Motor Credit not later than February 4, 2016. (Respondent's Ex. 4, R. p. 382). It sold the vehicle to Ms. Gilliam approximately two months later on March 29, 2016. Petitioner's Ex. 8, R. p. 541. It took an additional ninety-nine days for Ms. Gilliam to get her title (*Id.* at 540, 541), or a total of one hundred and fifty-four (154) days total to acquire a release from the well known national finance company. In the case of Mr. Bocoook of Quality Auto, the Chrysler 300 he bought on February 26, 2016 still had a lien of record to a title lending company. Allegedly the particular office of the lender closed and when another branch was located, Appellant had to wait for a manager to return from vacation (Petitioner's Ex. 6, R. p. 524). That wait took one hundred and forty-three (143) days.

There is no evidence that Appellant offered to buy any of the vehicles back after the forty-five day limit passed and the customers could no longer legally drive or sell their vehicles. There is no evidence Appellant offered rentals. There is no evidence that Appellant offered alternative vehicles for which it could provide titles. The Appellant had been warned that failure to deliver title could lead to suspension in letters that used the same terminology. *Compare* R. pp. 35-37 with Petitioner's Ex. 4, R. pp. 496-501. The Hearing Officer apparently disregarded additional warning letters warning the Appellant that it risked suspension by failing to deliver title based on the objection that such letters

had to be disclosed in the Official Notice of Dealer License Suspension (R. pp. 216, l. 8.-221, l. 24). In fact, those letters were admissible specifically because the Appellant had been previously warned that failure to deliver title could result in suspension but chose to continue doing business in a way that put its customers and their prospective lienholders at risk. The Department was sufficiently concerned about the Appellant's accumulation of points that it arranged a special meeting with Appellant's representatives in an attempt to avoid the necessity of sanctions (R. p. 233, l. 20 through R. p. 235, l. 25).

Regarding all these circumstances, Appellant breezily suggests "Every single time, there's nothing that we could have done," (R. p. 191, ll. 8, 9) as if all of the above mentioned alternatives are not only impossible for dealers but likewise unheard of. Appellant likewise offered "[a]nd remember, the customer gets the car and they're very happy to have the car because they get to use it." (R. p. 188, ll. 22-25). They get to use it, *except* when they don't and they have to file complaints with the Department so they can eventually have a vehicle they can legally drive. With all this, Appellant insists that its behavior was not "arbitrary." But not only that, Appellant also insists that the Hearing Officer could not reasonably have found its acts to be arbitrary. The notion that these activities are not at the very least arbitrary takes some mental gymnastics not every person is capable of.

Appellant is incorrect. The Hearing Officer specifically found that Appellant's actions were arbitrary. Arbitrary conduct of a motor vehicle dealer, prohibited under Dealers Act, is readily definable and includes acts which are unreasonable, capricious or nonrational, not done according to reason or judgment, depending on will alone. *Brown v. Dick Smith Nissan, Inc.*, 414 S.C. 101, 105-06, 777 S.E.2d 208, 210-11 (2015); *deBondt v. Carlton Motorcars, Inc.*, 342 S.C. 254, 263, 536 S.E. 2d 399, 404 (Ct. App. 2000).

The record, taken as a whole, supports a finding that the Appellant's actions were arbitrary.

- b. *SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD ALSO SUPPORTS A FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S THREE FAILURES TO DELIVER TITLE TO ITS CUSTOMERS CONSTITUTED BAD FAITH AS DESCRIBED IN SECTION 56-15-40 (1) AS AN ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND.*

Despite the pejorative common understanding of the term, the legal definition of "bad faith" for purposes of the Dealers Act may actually fit the actions of the Appellant just as well as the term "arbitrary."

Bad faith conduct of a motor vehicle dealer, prohibited under Dealers Act, is the opposite of good faith, generally implying or involving actual or constructive fraud, or a design to deceive or mislead another, *or a neglect or refusal to fulfill some duty or some contractual obligation, not prompted by an honest mistake as to one's rights or duties, but by some interested or sinister motive.* (Emphasis added) *Brown v. Dick Smith* at 106, 777 S.E. 2d at 211; *deBondt v. Carlton Motorcars, Inc.* at 263, 536 S.E 2d at 404.

In deflecting the responsibility for the for its lengthy failures to deliver title, Appellant blames everyone conceivable but itself: creditors that it says it called or tried to call a few times but did not produce releases, and a dealer whom it sold a "piece of junk" who had the temerity to want the title that Appellant was required to provide. One case involved a mystery man "seller" of Ms. McCallister's vehicle from whom Appellant not only did not require a title, but apparently did not require sufficient identification to determine that the "seller" was not the owner nor even require a copy of a registration to determine in what State the vehicle was titled (Petitioner's Ex. 11, R. p. 563, R. pp. 341 l. 21 through 345, l. 18; R. p. 568).

For Ms. Gilliam's purchase, however, Appellant makes the most jaw-dropping claim of all, that the former owners of Ms. Gilliam's Explorer violated the law. "They failed to deliver the title as required by the law." Appellant's Brief at 8. One must ask who

the dealer is here. Whatever opinion Appellant may harbor about whether its actions meets a defined term of "willful failure to deliver title" that never applied to the transaction to begin with, nothing absolves Appellant of its duty to deliver titles to its customers. Appellant is a dealer. It effectuates sales of vehicles. *See, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 56-15-10 (h), (l).* It is required to provide a title to its buyers within forty-five days of the sale. *S.C. Code Ann. §§ 56-15-210, -240, -360 and -370.* Moreover, as a dealer, it impliedly warrants to its buyers that it has good title to provide them in a legal manner. *S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-312* provides:

- (1) Subject to subsection (2) there is in a contract for sale a warranty by the seller that:
 - (a) the title conveyed shall be good, and its transfer rightful; and
 - (b) the goods shall be delivered free from any security interest or other lien or encumbrance of which the buyer at the time of contracting has no knowledge.
- (2) A warranty under subsection (1) will be excluded or modified only by specific language or by circumstances which give the buyer reason to know that the person selling does not claim title in himself or that he is purporting to sell only such right or title as he or a third person may have.
- (3) Unless otherwise agreed a seller who is a merchant regularly dealing in goods of the kind warrants that the goods shall be delivered free of the rightful claim of any third person by way of infringement or the like but a buyer who furnishes specifications to the seller must hold the seller harmless against any such claim which arises out of compliance with the specifications.

While it is nearly inconceivable that the Appellant did not inquire from its customers as to the status of the title and the ability to acquire a duplicate (who were trading in the Explorer to make purchase a different vehicle from Appellant), regardless of any representations the former sellers may have made, the Appellant, as a merchant in goods of the kind, warranted that it could provide title. In addition, the record reflects that the Appellant acquired powers of attorney for the specific purpose of facilitating the transfer

involved in the trade so that the sellers would not have to be physically present (Petitioner's Ex. 9, R. pp. 557, 558; Petitioner's Ex. 10, R. p. 575, 576). If in fact the Appellant claims it was relying on the prior sellers to directly produce a duplicate title, and the sellers failed or refused to do so, it simply makes the fact that it then sold the vehicle to Ms. Gilliam the more blameworthy.

Appellant had both a contractual and legal duty to provide title. In each of the cases it took no less than double the statutorily allowed time to provide title, and for periods of time ranging from forty-five (45) days to ninety-eight (98) days its customers were unable to legally drive or sell the vehicles. Accepting for the moment Appellant's explanation, that the creditors had been paid but could not be found to release the lien and there was nothing inherently illegal about selling the vehicle before the dealer had the title in hand, once the sale was more than forty-five days old the Appellant had lapsed into illegality.

Each title was delayed double or in one case more than triple the statutory authorized time for titles to be provided. There is an absence of evidence that Appellant took remedial measures of any sort to assist its customers other than eventually providing title after each customer had filed a complaint with the Department. These delays were taken out of the realm of innocent errors. How much passage of time in failing to title (nor offering refunds or alternative deals) would Appellant suggest is sufficient to be considered "*not prompted by an honest mistake as to [its] own rights or duties, but by some interested motive*"? Would quadruple the time allowed by statute be regarded as the tipping point? Would it have been excused in failing to title up to the current time if the customers had not ended up complaining to the Department?

The Hearing Officer was allowed to accept an inference that even if third party creditors were unresponsive, the Appellant had a responsibility for the sale it made to its customers that was more than just waiting for action by those third party creditors in whatever time they might find convenient to respond. In addition, it is noteworthy that in each case title was provided shortly after the customers' complaints were filed and in only one of them was the release acquired prior to the complaint being received by the Department. The Hearing Officer also knew that, as Ms. Powell admitted to the Department's agent in the Bocook complaint, the problems were caused by turnover and terminations resulting from bad deals (Petitioner's Ex. 6, R. p. 521). In short, the Hearing Officer was allowed to infer and apparently did infer that Appellant could have acquired the titles earlier if sufficiently motivated. Instead, since the Appellant had been paid, it was content to let the inability to legally drive or sell the vehicles be its customers' problems. Though Appellant was not sufficiently motivated by violating the titling laws, the complaints to the Department may have turned the corner. Thereafter, sufficient resources were provided to belatedly title the vehicles.

As for the suggestion regarding the McCallister vehicle that "there was nothing [Appellant] could have done," a few modest suggestions may come to mind in addition to having the title in hand or offering the customer a buy back or a different deal before the double or in excess of double the allowable titling period has passed. These suggestions might be might be: Know who is purporting to sell you a car. Get a copy of identification of the person purporting to sell you a car. Get a copy of the registration of the vehicle the person is trying to sell you so you can know whether the person actually owns to the vehicle and know what State you might search to determine how to pay off a lien or get a lien

release. Finally, do not sell the vehicle to another customer until you get this basic information.

Bad faith, at least as defined in the case law for the Dealers Act, is not confined to transactions originated entirely by evil motives. The case law definition specifically recognizes “*a neglect or refusal to fulfill some duty or some contractual obligation*” of which Appellant clearly did as a matter of contract as well as statutory requirement to title. It is evidence that Appellant’s self interest in avoiding the trouble or expense of making the titles available outstripped its known legal duty to provide them or even offer an alternative in mitigation of the customers’ inability to drive or sell their vehicles.

c. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD ALSO SUPPORTS A FINDING THAT APPELLANT’S THREE FAILURES TO DELIVER TITLES TO ITS CUSTOMERS CONSITUTED UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES FORBIDDEN IN SECTION 56-15-30 (A) AS AN ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND.

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